. . OA 08-29-00

ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX

APR 26 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

V.

Case No. SC96836

THOMAS HENRY SPIOCH, III,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar Number 0618550

DAVID H. FOXMAN
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar Number 0059013
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
Fifth Floor
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ASSESSED SEXUAL CONTACT POINTS ON SPIOCH'S SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR FONDLING THE
VICTIM'S PENIS THROUGH HIS CLOTHING 4
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF FONT
CEDTTETCATE OF CEDITOR 12

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

<u>Altman v. State</u> , 25 Fla. L. Weekly D662 (Fla. 4th DCA Mar. 15, 2000)
Beaslev v. State, 503 So. 2d 1347 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), aff'd, 518 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 1988)
<u>Canakaris v. Canakaris,</u> 382 So. 2d 1197 (Fla. 1980) 4
<u>Ely v. State</u> , 719 So. 2d 11 (Fla 2d DCA 1998) 4
Florida Birth-Related Neurological Iniury Comp. Ass'n v. Florida Div. of Admin. Hearings, 686 so. 2d 1349 (Fla. 1997)
Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control Dist,, 604 So. 2d 452 (Fla. 1992)
<u>Hawkins v. Ford Motor Co.</u> , 748 So. 2d 993 (Fla. 1999) 8
<u>Huff v. State</u> , 569 So. 2d 1247 (Fla. 1990) 4
<u>Hush v. State</u> , 751 So. 2d 718 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) 10
<u>J.A.S. v. State</u> , 705 So. 2d 1381 (Fla. 1998) 9
<u>Johnson v. Feder</u> , 485 So. 2d 409 (Fla. 1986) 8
<u>Jones v. State</u> , 640 So. 2d 1084 (Fla. 1994) 9
<u>Kitts v. State</u> , 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2144 (Fla. 5th DCA Sept. 17, 1999)
Mackev v. State, 516 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) 10
<u>Marcado v. State</u> , 735 So. 2d 556 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) 5
<u>McDonald v. State,</u> 520 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988) 4
Metropolitan Dade Co. v. Green, 596 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 1992)
National Airlines, Inc. v. Division of Employment Security of Florida Department of Commerce, 379 So. 2d 1033 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980)
<pre>Ouince v. State, 732 So. 2d 1059 (Fla. 1999) 4</pre>

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (continued)

<pre>CASES CITED (continued):</pre>
Reves v. State, 709 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) 5,6,9-11
Sarasota Herald-Tribune Co. v. Sarasota County, 632 So. 2d 606 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)
<u>Sharer v. Hotel Corp. of America,</u> 144 So. 2d 813 (Fla. 1962)
<u>Smith v. U.S.</u> , 508 U.S. 223 (1993) 8
<pre>Spioch v. State, 742 So. 2d 817 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999) . , 2,6,9-11</pre>
<u>Unruh v. State</u> , 669 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 1996)
<u>Vural v. State</u> , 717 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), <u>rev. denied</u> , 733 So. 2d 591 (Fla. 1999) 6,11
<u>Waller v. State</u> , 716 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) 4
OTHER AUTHORITIES CITED:
Chapter 92-135, Section 1, Laws of Florida 5
Chapter 92-135, Section 4, Laws of Florida 5
Chapter 800, Florida Statutes (1993) 5,7
Section 794.011(1) (h), Florida Statutes (1995) 5,7
Section 800.02, Florida Statutes (1993)
Section 800.03, Florida Statutes (1993)
Section 800.04(1), Florida Statutes (1991)
Section 800.04(1), Florida Statutes (1993)
Section 800.04(2), Florida Statutes (1993) 7
Section 800.04(3), Florida Statutes (1993)
Section 800.04(4), Florida Statutes (1993)
Section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) 5.78

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent Thomas Henry Spioch, III, was charged by information with, inter alia, twenty-three counts of lewd and lascivious act upon a minor. (R.270-276). Each count alleged that Spioch fondled the child victim's penis through his clothing. (R.273-276). At trial, the child victim, T.G., testified that the crimes began in June, 1992, when he was fourteen years old and ended in September, 1993, when he was fifteen. (Tr.35-69,169). T.G. was a member of the Coast Guard Explorers, a group in which Spioch was an adult advisor. 37,201). Although he disputed the number of incidents, Spioch confessed to having a sexual relationship with the child. (Tr.149-157). At trial, Spioch testified that T.G. was the sexual aggressor and that T.G. seduced a reluctant Spioch and all but forced him to continue engaging sex acts over the charged time period, despite Spioch's preference not to engage in such acts with a child of T.G.'s age. (Tr.189-227).

The jury found Spioch guilty of each of the lewd act charges. (R.280-281, 284-304). The trial court adjudicated Spioch guilty of twenty-one of the lewd act convictions and sentenced him to consecutive fifteen-year terms on each. (R.57,240-247). The court withheld adjudication for two of the counts and sentenced Spioch to time served. (R.240,244-245). On

 $^{^{1}}$ The State also charged Spioch with five counts of sexual activity with a child by a person in familial or custodial authority. (R.270-272). Those charges were ultimately nol prossed . (R.161).

his sentencing guidelines scoresheet, he received twenty victim injury points for sexual contact on each of the twenty-one lewd act adjudications, resulting in 420 total victim injury points. (R.237). The trial court sentenced Spioch to twenty-one consecutive fifteen-year prison terms. (R.57,242-247).

On appeal, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed Spioch's sentence, holding that the trial court improperly scored victim injury points for sexual contact:

Spioch further contends that the acts to which the victim testified, Spioch's fondling of the victim's penis through the victim's clothing, do not qualify for victim injury We conclude that Spioch adequately preserved this issue. <u>See Pinacle</u> v. State, 654 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1995). In Reyes v. State, 709 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), the trial court assessed 18 points for victim injury, or sexual contact, based on the defendant's having fondled the female victim's breast during the commission of the attempted sexual battery. This court reversed the sentence holding that "contact" meant the union of the sexual organ of one person with the oral, anal or vaginal opening of another. Thus, this court held, in the absence of physical trauma, victim injury points are appropriately assessed only in cases involving sexual battery, sexual battery, either by penetration or union. <u>Cf. Vural v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), rev. denied, 733 So. 2d 591 (Fla. 1999). In the instant case, neither penetration nor union occurred, so the court incorrectly assessed the victim injury points.

Spioch v. State, 742 So. 2d 817, 817-818 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

The State moved for rehearing, which was denied September 16,

1999. (Appellate court record, p.6-13). The State timely filed its notice to invoke on October 5, 1999. (Appellate rec., p.20-21).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court's opinion limiting the scoring of sexual contact points to instances of oral, anal, or vaginal union with the sexual organ of another involves an unreasonably restrictive interpretation of the statute. Although the statute expressly applies to all lewd and lascivious act prosecutions, the opinion has the effect of rendering the statute inapplicable in most such prosecutions, including this one. Accordingly, the opinion below should be quashed.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ASSESSED SEXUAL CONTACT POINTS ON SPIOCH'S SENTENCING GUIDELINES SCORESHEET FOR FONDLING THE VICTIM'S PENIS THROUGH HIS CLOTHING.

The issue in this case is whether a defendant may be assessed sexual contact points on his or her sentencing guidelines scoresheet for hand-to-penis contact. This Court should quash the opinion below and hold that sexual contact points are properly awarded for such behavior.

The scoring of victim injury points is a matter of discretion for the sentencing judge. Waller v. State, 716 So. 2d 836 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998); Elv v. State, 719 So. 2d 11 (Fla 2d DCA 1998); McDonald v. State, 520 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). A court abuses its discretion when its ruling is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable. Huff v. State, 569 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Fla. 1990) (quoting Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980)). A court's ruling on a discretionary matter will be upheld unless no reasonable person would take the view adopted by the court. Ouince v. State, 732 So. 2d 1059, 1062 (Fla. 1999).

On over twenty occasions between June, 1992 and September, 1993, Spioch fondled the child victim T.G.'s penis through his clothing in violation of Section 800.04(1), Florida Statutes (1991 & 1993). Both the 1991 and 1993 versions of 800.04(1) proscribe the handling or fondling of any child under the age of sixteen in a lewd, lascivious, or indecent manner. Effective April 8, 1992, the legislature passed new legislation mandating

the scoring of victim injury points where a defendant has been convicted of violating chapter 800. Ch. 92-135, § 1 & 4, Laws of Fla; Marcado v. State, 735 So. 2d 556, 557 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999). As amended in 1992, the statute read:

For purposes of the statewide sentencing guidelines, if the conviction is for an offense described in chapter 794, chapter 800, or s. 826.04 and such offense includes sexual penetration, the sexual penetration must receive the score indicated for penetration or slight injury, regardless of whether there is evidence of any physical injury. If the conviction is for an offense described in chapter 794, chapter 800, or s. 826.04 and such an offense does not include sexual penetration, the sexual contact must receive the score indicated for contact but no penetration, regardless of whether there is evidence of any physical injury.

§ 921.001(8), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1992)(emphasis supplied).

In Reves v. State, 709 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), the Fifth District held that victim injury points for sexual contact could not be scored where the defendant committed an attempted sexual battery on the victim by fondling her breast and making a sexually suggestive comment. In reaching this conclusion, the district court determined that contact points may only be imposed where the contact occurs 'in a sexual battery by union without penetration." Id. at 182. In using the term "union," the district court was referring to the statutory definition of the offense of sexual battery: "'Sexual battery' means oral, anal, or vaginal penetration by, or union with the sexual organ of another or the anal or vaginal penetration of another by any other object[.]" \$ 794.011(1) (h), Fla. Stat. (1995).

Although <u>Reves</u> was decided in the context of the sexual battery statute, the district court applied it in the instant case and found that it precluded the scoring of sexual contact points for the lewd acts Spioch committed on T.G.:

Spioch further contends that the acts to which the victim testified, Spioch's fondling of the victim's penis through the victim's clothing, do not qualify for victim injury points. . . . In <u>Reves v. State</u>, 709 So. 2d 181 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), the trial court assessed 18 points for victim injury, or sexual contact, based on the defendant's having fondled the female victim's breast during the commission of the attempted sexual This court reversed the sentence holding that "contact" meant the union of the sexual organ of one person with the oral, anal or vaginal opening of another. or vaginal opening of another. Thus, this court held, in the absence of physical trauma, victim injury points are appropriately only in cases involving assessed sexual either by penetration or union. Cf. battery, <u>Vural v. State</u>, 717 So. 2d 65 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998), rev. denied, 733 So. 2d 591 (Fla. 1999). 1999). In the instant case, neither penetration nor union occurred, so the court In the instant incorrectly assessed the victim injury points.

Spioch v. State, 742 So. 2d 817, 817-818 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999).

Despite the Fifth District's reliance upon <u>Vural</u>, that case does not support the conclusion that sexual contact points are inappropriate here. On the contrary, the <u>Vural</u> court determined that contact similar to that at issue here was sexual contact that must be scored under the guidelines:

Here, appellant forced the victim to handle and masturbate him. That is sexual contact and points must be assessed for that.

<u>Vural</u>, 707 So. 2d at 67. The <u>Vural</u> court found <u>Reves</u> inapplicable. 707 So. 2d at 67.

By limiting the scoring of sexual contact points to instances of union, the opinion below has the effect of precluding victim injury points for most violations of Section 800.04(1), Florida Statutes (1993), which prohibits the handling, fondling, or assaulting of any child under the age of sixteen in a lewd, lascivious, or indecent manner. Most of chapter 800 is devoted to prohibiting sex crimes which do not involve sexual battery and therefore most of the chapter describes acts which do not include the union of sexual organs. See, \$\$ 800.02, 800.03, 800.04(1), 800.04(2), 800.04(4), Fla. Stat. (1993). legislature only intended to assess sexual contact points when there is oral, anal, or vaginal union with the sexual organ of another, there would have been no reason for it to draft Section 921.001(8) to include all of chapter 800. Instead, if the legislature had intended to restrict the assessment of sexual contact points to acts of sexual battery, it could easily have restricted the assessment of such points to violations of Section 800.04(3), Florida Statutes (1993), which prohibits an act defined as sexual battery under Section 794.011(1) (h) upon any child under the age of sixteen.

It is a rule of statutory construction that the legislature does not intend to enact legislation that is purposeless or meaningless. <u>Unruh v. State</u>, 669 So. 2d 242, 245 (Fla. 1996) (quoting <u>Sharer v. Hotel Corp.of America</u>, 144 So. 2d 813, 817 (Fla. 1962)). Accordingly, courts should avoid readings that would render part of a statute meaningless and, whenever

possible, should give full effect to all statutory provisions.

Id. (quoting Forsythe v. Lonsboat Kev Beach Erosion Control

Dist., 604 So. 2d 452, 456 (Fla. 1992)). Thus, courts must
choose that interpretation of statutes and rules which renders
their provisions meaningful. Hawkins v. Ford Motor Co., 748 So.
2d 993, 1000 (Fla. 1999) (quoting Johnson v. Feder, 485 So. 2d
409, 411 (Fla. 1986)). The opinion under review violates these
principles of statutory construction because it renders the
statute ineffectual in prosecutions for lewd and lascivious
fondling under Section 800.04(1).

The opinion also violates the settled principle that it is not a judicial function to add words to statutory language. National Airlines, Inc. v. Division of Employment Security of Florida Department of Commerce, 379 So. 2d 1033, 1035 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980); see also, Sarasota Herald-Tribune Co. v. Sarasota County, 632 So. 2d 606, 607 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993). The district court has effectively rewritten Section 921.001(8) to require a showing of union as a predicate to the scoring of sexual contact points. As a general rule, a term not expressly defined in the statute should be given its plain and ordinary meaning. Metropolitan Dade Co. v. Green, 596 So. 2d 458 (Fla. 1992); Florida Birth-Related Neurological Injury Comp. Ass'n v. Florida <u>Div. of Admin. Hearings</u>, 686 So. 2d 1349, 1354 (Fla. 1997); Smith v. U.S., 508 U.S. 223, 228 (1993). Given its plain meaning, the term "sexual contact" is broader than oral, anal, or vaginal union with the sexual organ of another. A reasonable person

would understand the term "sexual contact" to include the handto-penis contact that occurred in this case.

As this Court has recognized, the Florida Legislature "has established an unquestionably strong policy interest in protecting minors from harmful sexual conduct." <u>Jones v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 1084, 1085 (Fla. 1994); <u>J.A.S. v. State</u>, 705 So. 2d 1381, 1385 (Fla. 1998). The legislature has commendably set out to enforce this policy by calling for victim injury points where there is sexual contact but no penetration. The award of these points recognizes that such contact, while not always causing physical injury, often inflicts great emotional and psychological trauma. The opinion in this case unreasonably limits the legislature's effort to fully punish those who prey upon children.

Recent case law has called into question the continuing validity of Reves, the decision which underlies Spioch. See, Kitts v. State, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D2144 (Fla. 5th DCA Sept. 17, 1999). Kitts was convicted of committing a lewd and lascivious act for kissing and fondling the victim's breasts. Id. The Fifth District affirmed the award of sexual contact points, finding that the holding in Reves "can be interpreted narrowly to say that it applies only to a sexual battery case." Kitts. The court found that "the legislature has clearly defined sexual conduct much more broadly than this court in Reves." Kitts.

Judge Peterson, who authored Reves, dissented on the ground that Reves precluded the award of sexual contact points. Kitts, at

D2145. The Fifth District has not yet issued mandate in Kitts, and appears to be considering Kitt's motion for rehearing en banc. In a specially concurring opinion, one judge of the Fifth District has stated that, under Kitts, sexual contact points were properly scored for the defendant's act of rubbing the child victim's vagina through her clothing. See, Hush v. State, T51. So. 2d 718 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) (Harris, J., concurring).

In March of this year, the Fourth District decided Altman v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D662 (Fla. 4th DCA Mar. 15, 2000), in which Altman was convicted of three lewd assaults for kissing the child victim and one lewd act for rubbing his crotch against the victim's crotch and buttocks while both were clothed. Although the court did not reach the merits of the issue, it noted that under prior case law, points for sexual contact could be assessed more broadly than Id.es allows. For this proposition, the court cited Mackev v. State, 516 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), which affirmed the award of sexual contact points for fondling the child victim "about the crotch," and Beaslev v. State, 503 So. 2d 1347, 1349 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), aff'd, 518 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 1988), which affirmed the award of such points where the defendant opened the victim's legs and started to pull down her bathing suit and shorts.

This Court should disapprove <u>Reves</u>, quash <u>Spioch</u>, and hold that the award of sexual contact points is not limited to instances of oral, anal, or vaginal union with the sexual organ of another.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing argument and authority, the State respectfully requests that this Honorable Court disapprove <u>Reyes</u>, quash <u>Spioch</u>, and approve <u>Vural</u>.