· 0A 08-29-50

# ORIGINAL

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED THOMAS D. HALL

**MAY 16** 2000

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

THOMAS SPIOCH,

Respondent.

S. CT. CASE NO. **SC96-836** DCA CASE NO. **5D97-26** 16

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT AND THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

# **RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

SUSAN A. FAGAN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 112 Orange Avenue Daytona Beach, Florida 32 114 Phone: 904/252-3367 Florida Bar No. 0845566

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

##

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGT JMENT

The Fifth District correctly struck the victim injury points from the Respondent's sentencing guidelines scoresheet. The applicable Florida Statute, Section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes (1992 Supp.), was properly construed in a limited fashion by the Fifth District, in accordance with Florida Statutory Rule of Construction Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes, not to apply to the instant factual circumstances. Accordingly, because there is no statutory or case law definition of "sexual contact" in Florida, victim injury for "sexual contact" under the sentencing guidelines, as codified in Section 921.001(8), must be narrowly construed in the instant case to the benefit of the Respondent. The decision of the Fifth District <u>sub</u> judice, therefore, striking the victim injury points for "sexual contact," where there was no direct physical contact by the Respondent with the victim's sexual organ, should be affirmed by this Court.

#### ARGUMENT

## THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT <u>SUB JUDICE</u> SHOULD BE AFFIRMED BY THIS COURT.

Petitioner initially argues that, based on Section 921 .OO 1(8), Florida Statutes, (1992 Supp.), because the Respondent's charged offenses under Section 800.04(1), Florida Statutes, involved the Respondent's fondling of T. G.'s penis through T. G.'s clothing, the Fifth District was incorrect in striking the "sexual contact" victim injury points assessed by the trial court for Respondent's instant convictions. (Petitioner's initial merit brief pgs. 4-8) \$ee also, Fla.R.Crim.Proced 3.988 (j). R 237-238, 270-276) Specifically, Petitioner contends that the ". . .[D]istrict [C]ourt determined that [sexual] contact points may only be imposed where the [sexual] contact occurs 'in a sexual battery by union without penetration."' (Petitioner's initial merit brief pg. 5) Petitioner asserts the Fifth District's opinion in Reves v. State, 709 So.2d 18 1 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), is incorrect and has filed, as supplemental authority, the Fifth District's more recent decision in Kitts v. State, (Slip opinion 5D98-2957 dated May 5, 2000), upon the Fifth District's en banc review of its originally issued opinion in Kitts v. State. 24 Fla. L. Weekly D 2144 (Fla. 5th DCA September 17, 1999). [See Appendix A for Kitts slip opinion]

Respondent would first point out that the Fifth District only partially receded from its decisions in the instant case and from **Reyes** sufpire ally, the Fifth District disapproved the holding in these decisions which interpreted Section 921.001(8) to permit the scoring of victim injury points solely for those factual circumstances involving the union of the sexual organ of one person with the oral, anal or vaginal opening of another. (Kitts slip opinion) More importantly, the Fifth District acknowledged in <u>Kitts</u> that "(t)here is nothing in the case law or the statutes which expressly defines sexual contact or answers the basic question here, to-wit: whether a fondling or kissing of a female breast is sexual contact." Id, pg. 2 of Kitts slip opinion. To solve this dilemma, the majority in <u>Kitts</u> chose to refer to other state's statutory definitions of whether female breasts were "intimate parts" included in those states. criminal statutes prohibiting **specifiq** sexual conduct e Peterson, in his dissenting opinion in Kitts, however, correctly pointed out that the decisions cited to by the majority in Kitts "... all specifically mention that the legislatures of their states had defined the phrase 'sexual contact' or similar relevant terms or phrases." [Emphasis added] (Kitts Slip op. Pg. 1 of dissent) See Minnesota Ct. of Appeal v. Oanes, 543 N.W. 2d 658,661, (Minn. Ct. App., 1996); New York v. Foley, 257 A.D. 2d 243 (1999 N.Y. Slip Op. 05878, 1999 WL 399439 at \*6); Wisconsin v. Dodson, 580 N.W. 2d 181, 189 (Wis. 1998); Ohio v. Riffle, 674 N.E. 2d 12 14, 12 17 (Ohio Ct. App. 1996); Strickland v. Arkansas, 909 SW. 2d

3 18,321 (Ark. 1995); and <u>New Mexico v. Williams</u>, 730 P. 2d 11961199 (N.M. Ct. App. 1986) As a result of Florida Statues not defining "sexual contact," the conclusion reached by Judge Peterson in <u>Kitts</u> was that the trial court was bound by Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes, and Florida Case Law in <u>Scates v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 504 (Fla. 1992); <u>Hollingsworth v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 176 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), to construe criminal statutes strictly to the benefit of the accused. More importantly, this statutory provision has been held under Florida case law as being directly applicable to the sentencing guidelines. Lewis v. State, 574 So.2d 245 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). Clearly then, Section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes, must be similarly strictly construed.

Petitioner further argues that the instant factual circumstances are equally governed by the Third District's decision in <u>Vural v. State</u>, 717 So.2d 65 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998), <u>rev. denied</u>, 733 So.2d 591 (Fla. 1999). Respondent disagrees. As noted by the Petitioner, the Third District <u>specifically found the Fifth District's</u> <u>decision in Reyes, supra, to be inapplicable</u>. <u>Vural</u>, 707 So.2d at 67. This is because the factual circumstances in <u>Vural</u> involved, as additionally recognized by the Petitioner, a charge of attempted sexual battery where there was <u>forced</u> <u>attempted felicio</u>, <u>Vural</u>, 707 Sorad nta66. c o n d u c t i s n o t w h a t th e Fifth District addressed <u>sub judice</u> since the Respondent's actions did not involve

any skin to skin contact between himself and T. G., and was not charged as an attempted sexual battery or sexual battery.

Petitioner next contends that, because the Florida Legislature included all of Chapter 800, without specifying a particular subsection, in Section 92 1,001(8), Florida Statutes (1992 Supp.), the Florida Legislature did not intend to limit victim injury points for "sexual contact" to only oral, anal, or vaginal union with the sexual organ of another. (Petitioner's initial merit brief pg. 7) Respondent disagrees and would point out that Petitioner offers no statutory rule of construction or case law from Florida, or any other jurisdiction, to support this conclusion. Instead, Petitioner's reasoning runs afoul of the aforementioned Florida Rule of Criminal statutory construction, codified in Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes, by Petitioner applying an overbroad, rather than a strict, construction of the statutory term "sexual contact" as used in Section 92 1 .OO 1 (8), Florida Statutes (1992 Supp.). Certainly, even Petitioner acknowledges that at least some violations prosecuted under Chapter 800 Florida would not permit the trial court to assess victim jury points for "sexual contact." (Petitioner's initial merit brief pg. 7) Thus, a strict construction of the term "sexual contact" by the trial court is warranted as Judge Peterson and Judge Thompson urge in Kitts. supra.

Petitioner's additional reliance on Florida Rule of Statutory construction that "... the legislature does not intend to enact legislation that is purposeless or meaningless" is misplaced. (Petitioner's initial merit brief pgs. 7-8) Contrary to Petitioner's assertion that the Fifth District's Statutory interpretation of Section 921.001(8), Florida Statutes (Sup. 1992), would render that particular statute meaningless, the Fifth District's strict interpretation merely appropriately limits the trial court's assessment of victim injury points to those factual situations where "sexual contact" occurs based on a strict and narrow definition of that term. Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, this type of statutory construction by the Fifth District does give full effect to all of the statutory provisions of Section 92 1 .OO 1(8). as written by the legislature, since the instant decision does not strike the term "sexual contact" from the statute at issue. Therefore, Petitioner's objection that the Fifth District's opinion sub judice ". . . renders the [victim injury] statute ineffectual in prosecutions for lewd and lascivious fondling under Section **800.04(** 1) [Florida Statutes], may be remedied only by the legislature and not by this Court or the appellate courts of this state.

In <u>Karchesky v. State</u>, 591 So.2d 930 (Fla. 1992), this Court also looked to the narrow confines of the then existing victim injury statute in holding that the statute did not permit the scoring of victim injury points for "penetration or contact"

separately from those assessed <u>for nhvsical trauma</u>. Section 92 1.00 1(8) was passed by the legislature in Chapter 92-135, Secs. 1 and 4, Laws of Florida, in direct response to this Court strictly construing in <u>Karcheskv</u> Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.70 1 (d)(7), as amended by the legislature on July 1, 1987. As such, the Florida legislature is free to specifically expand further the Fifth District's proper narrow strict construction of the statutory term "sexual contact," as used in Section 92 1.001(8), Florida Statutes (1992 Supp.), by properly amending that statute to specifically define "sexual contact" as it wishes.

Petitioner's additional argument that the Fifth District's opinion in this case "...unreasonably limits the legislature's effort to fully punish those who prey upon children", is an incorrect hyperbole. The instant opinion by the Fifth District fully prosecutes the Respondent under Sections 800.04(1) and 921.001(8), within the proper limits of the well established principle of statutory construction to "<u>strictly</u> <u>construe criminal statutes in favor of the accused</u>." To allow the trial courts to define "sexual contact," as Petitioner suggests, would lead to <u>nonuniformity</u> in the trial court's enforcement of <u>Eoth</u> statutes. decisions from other states cited <u>infra</u>, show that "sexual contact" or "sexual conduct" can mean various things according to the particular state statute involved. This is exactly why the legislature, not the courts, must provide the definition of "sexual contact". Until it does, only a narrowly construed interpretation of "sexual contact", as used in Section 92 1 .0001(8), should be applied by the courts. <u>See Foley</u>, 257 A.D. 2d at 251.

Finally, Petitioner argues that "sexual contact" can be defined in Florida under the Fourth District's decision in <u>Altman v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D662 (Fla.. 4th DCA March 15, 2000). Respondent disagrees. The Fourth District candidly acknowledged, in <u>Altman</u> that ". . .it is not yet clear how the courts will <u>ultimatelv revolve what constitutes sexual contact</u>." [Emphasis added] <u>Id</u>. Moreover, the court in <u>Altman</u> pointed out that <u>Mackey v. State</u>, 5 16 So.2d 330 (Fla..1st DCA 1987) and <u>Beasley v. State</u>, 503 So.2d 1347 (Fla.. 5th DCA 1987) , cited to by the Petitioner, construed victim injury points for certain type of "<u>sexual</u> <u>contact</u>" under "<u>prior law</u>", which also predate this Court's decision in <u>Karchesky</u>, <u>supra</u>. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the instant decision rendered by the Fifth District striking the Respondent's victim injury points from his sentencing guidelines scoresheet.

#### **CONCLUSION**

Based on the arguments and authorities cited herein, Respondent requests that this Honorable Court affirm and approve the instant decision rendered by the Fifth District below striking the victim's injury points for "sexual contact" from the Respondent's sentencing guidelines scoresheet based on Section 92 1 .00 1(8), Florida Statutes (1992 Supp.).